RECEIVED

In the Supreme Cour²o¹⁰⁻²⁰¹⁶ **CLERK OF SUPREME COURT** Wisconsin

OF WISCONSIN

Wisconsin Carry, Inc. and Thomas Waltz,

Petitioners-Appellants-**Petitioners**

V.

The City of Madison, Respondent-Respondent

Appeal No. 2015AP000146

Appeal from the Judgment of the Dane County Circuit Court, The Hon. Ellen K. Berz

Brief of Petitioners

John R. Monroe **Attorney for Petitioners** 9640 Coleman Road Roswell, GA 30075 678-362-7650 State Bar No. 01021542

Statement of Issues

1. May a city circumvent state preemption of firearm

regulation by creating an authority that in turn regulates

firearms in a manner that the city itself could not do?

Circuit Court and Court of Appeals answer: Yes.

2. Does a statute preempting city ordinances that regulate

firearms apply to an ordinance that empowers a city

agency to promulgate rules that regulate firearms?

Circuit Court answer: No.

Court of Appeals answer: Declined to address.

3. Does the statutory regime in place constitute

"occupying the field" of regulation of weapons on the

part of the legislature, giving rise to "field preemption"

and leaving nothing for the city to regulate?

Circuit Court answer: Did not address.

Court of Appeals answer: Declined to address.

Statement on Oral Argument

This Court has ordered oral argument.

Statement of the Case¹

The City of Madison operates "Madison Metro," a public bus system administered by the City's Transit and Parking Commission. R7, ¶¶ 7-8. The Commission is authorized by Madison Ordinance § 3.14(4)(h) to "establish such rules and procedures as may be necessary...." R7, ¶ 9 (the "Ordinance"). Pursuant to the Ordinance, the Commission established a rule prohibiting persons from riding Madison Metro buses while armed (the "Ban"). R7, ¶ 10. A violation of the Ban can result in being disallowed from using the Madison Metro system. R7, ¶ 11.

In 2012, Petitioner Thomas Waltz, a Madison Metro user, contacted the Commission, challenging the Ban as violating state law.² R7, ¶ 22. The Commission responded that the City's mayor and attorney both indicated the Ban would not be changed. R7, ¶ 23. Petitioner Wisconsin

¹ The case comes to this Court on a motion to dismiss, so the facts alleged in the petition must be taken to be true. The Statement of the Case therefore draws largely on the Amended Petition.

² Wis.Stats. § 66.0409(2), cited below, generally preempts local regulation of weapons "by ordinance or resolution." It is referred to in this Brief as the "Preemption Statute."

Carry's chairman also contacted the Commission to point out that the Ban violated state law. R7, ¶¶ 24-25. Again, the Commission responded that the Ban would not be changed. R7, ¶¶ 26-27.

Waltz is a member of Wisconsin Carry, Inc., a gun rights organization in Wisconsin. R7, ¶5.3 WCI has an interest in people being permitted to carry firearms and other weapons for self defense while riding Madison Metro buses, and such interest is frustrated by the Ban, because the Ban creates a deterrence to people exercising their rights to bear arms. R7, ¶¶ 28-29.

WCI commenced this action in the Circuit Court for Dane County, seeking, *inter alia*⁴, a declaratory judgment that the Ban is preempted by state law. On December 15, 2014, the Circuit Court dismissed the case. The Circuit Court said that state law only preempts "ordinances and resolutions" that regulate firearms. Because, the Circuit Court said, the Ban is not itself an ordinance or resolution, there is no preemption. The Circuit Court also said that the Ban was promulgated

³ For the remainder of this Brief, Waltz and Wisconsin Carry, Inc. are referred to collectively as "WCI."

⁴ WCI's other claims are not included in this appeal.

without the "statutory formality" necessary to bring it under the rubric of the Preemption Statute. Finally, the Circuit Court ruled that, because the Ordinance does not mention weapons, it also escapes scrutiny under the Preemption Statute. On January 21, 2015, WCI filed a notice of appeal.

On August 8, 2015, the Court of Appeals affirmed in a published opinion. 2015 WI App 74, 365 Wis.2d 71, 870 N.W.2d 675 ("CA Opinion"). The Court of Appeals affirmed the Circuit Court's ruling that the Ban is not an ordinance or a resolution and is therefore not covered by the Preemption Statute. CA Opinion, ¶ 8. The Court of Appeals declined to address whether the Ordinance is preempted by the Preemption Statute, even though the Court of Appeals acknowledged that the Ban was promulgated under authority of the Ordinance. *Id.*, \P 5. Finally, the Court of Appeals ruled that the various departments and agencies of Madison are free under the Preemption Statute to ban weapons over the areas where they exercise jurisdiction (restaurants, parks, streets, sidewalks, etc.), even if collectively such bans have the effect of greatly reducing where citizens may bear arms. *Id.*, ¶ 15.

The Court of Appeals declined to address the "field preemption" arguments raised by WCI. Id., ¶ 5.

On August 21, 2015, WCI filed a motion for reconsideration, which the Court of Appeals denied on August 31, 2015. In the motion for reconsideration, WCI pointed out, *inter alia*, that the Court of Appeals had overlooked several places in WCI's briefs where WCI had raised the issue of field preemption and also developed arguments pertaining to preemption of the Ordinance.

WCI filed a petition for review on September 28, 2015, which this Court granted on January 11, 2016.

Argument

I. Wisconsin Law Preempts the Ban

The Ban is preempted by the Preemption Statute, Wis.Stats. § 66.0409(2).

The Preemption Statute, Wis.Stats. § 66.0409(2) states,

Except as provided in subs. (3) and (4), no political subdivision may enact an ordinance or adopt a resolution that regulates the sale, purchase, purchase delay, transfer, ownership, use, keeping, possession, bearing, transportation, licensing, permitting, registration or taxation of any firearm or part of a firearm, including ammunition and reloader components, unless the ordinance or resolution

is the same as or similar to, and no more stringent than, a state statute.

[The exceptions mentioned do not apply to this case.] As noted (and relied upon) by the Circuit Court, the Ban is not itself an enacted ordinance or an adopted resolution.

The Circuit Court implicitly concluded that although the Common Council lacks the power to regulate carrying firearms, the Commission may ban them. The Circuit Court did not explain how it is that the Common Council can bestow power upon the Commission that the Common Council itself lacks. The Commission's source of power is, of course, the Common Council. It defies logic that the Common Council can grant power it does not have. To hold otherwise is to conclude that the city can augment its power by creating agencies to do what the city's own governing body cannot do.

Under the Circuit Court's analysis, the City's various agencies with jurisdiction over a multitude of aspects of life in the city could ban guns in parks, restaurants, streets, sidewalks, and stores. As long as the bans are not promulgated by the Common Council in the form of an

ordinance or resolution, they pass muster with the Preemption Statute.

The Court of Appeals accepted this result, noting that the legislature "could have" intended to allow spotty gun regulation as long as it was not imposed city-wide by the city's common council. The Court of Appeals expressed doubt that a collective effort would arise to create large areas of gun-free zones. Of course, the legality of the Ban does not turn on judicial speculation that a city would not exercise its power to the fullest extent possible. The logical conclusion of both the Circuit Court's and the Court of Appeals' rulings remains valid – Madison is free to ban guns in large parts of the city through collection action of its many agencies, as long as it does not pass an ordinance or resolution to do so.

The Court of Appeals' decision permits such collective action, effectuating an end run around the clear dictates of the Preemption Statute.

II. The Ordinance Creating the Commission is Preempted to the Extent It Empowers the Commission to Regulate Firearms

Even though the Ban is not itself an ordinance or a resolution, the *authority* for adopting the Ban is. Madison

Ordinance § 3.14(4)(h) authorizes the Commission to promulgate rules, and the Commission used that authority to create the Ban.

It is clear from the Preemption Statute that the Madison Common Council lacks the authority to pass an ordinance or resolution that regulates carrying weapons on city buses. The Circuit Court concluded, however, that the Common Council is free to pass an ordinance creating an agency of the city, giving that agency plenary rulemaking authority over a certain topic, and that such authority can extend to weapons regulation as long as the ordinance does not mention weapons:

M.G.O. § 3.14(4)(h) would not be preempted because it does not regulate firearms.... There is no language in the ordinance about firearms; so it cannot be construed as regulating the "sale, purchase, purchase delay, transfer, ownership, use, keeping, possession, bearing, transportation, licensing, permitting, registration or taxation of any firearm."

R14, p. 7.

The Circuit Court's conclusion, apparently, is that preemption only applies to an ordinance that explicitly mentions the subject matter of the Preemption Statute. A general enabling ordinance granting plenary rulemaking

authority, such as the Ordinance creating the Commission, leaves the Commission without limitation on its power to act in a given field, even if the city itself is preempted.

Again, the logical extension of this result is troubling. Consider, for example, an ordinance that prohibits behavior that "frightens the public." The ordinance does not mention weapons explicitly. The city prosecutes people seen openly wearing firearms in holsters on their waistbands if anyone in the public testifies as having been frightened by seeing the firearm.

Under the Circuit Court's reasoning, because this hypothetical ordinance does not mention weapons, it is not preempted and may freely be applied so as to prohibit carrying weapons. In other words, the legislature's preemptions of local regulation can be circumvented with clever drafting and creative application.

III. The Legislature Has "Occupied the Field" of Firearms Regulation

In addition to the express preemption contained in the Preemption Statute, it is clear that the legislature has occupied the field of firearms regulation. *See, e.g., Gorton v. American*

Cyanamid Co., 194 Wis.2d 203, 553 N.W.2d 746 (S.Ct., 1995). Wis.Stats. § 175.60(2g)(a) provides:

A licensee or an out-of-state licensee may carry a concealed weapon anywhere in this state except [listing of several exceptions inapplicable to this case].⁵

Thus, the legislature has declared that a licensee may carry a concealed weapon anywhere in the state with only an express list of off-limits locations (city buses are not included in that list of exceptions). If a license issued by the State permits carrying a weapon statewide, allowing city agencies to prescribe additional off-limits locations frustrates the intent of the legislature.

An example of a field preemption case from another state on the subject of local firearms regulation can be found in Georgia. Georgia's firearm preemption statute says:

Except as provided in subsection (c) of this Code section, no county or municipal corporation, by zoning or by ordinance or resolution, ... shall regulate in any manner ... possession, ownership, transport, carrying, transfer, sale, purchase, licensing, or registration of firearms

13

⁵ The word "licensee" is used to refer to someone who possesses a license to carry a concealed weapon issued pursuant to Wis.Stats. § 175.60.

O.C.G.A. § 16-11-173(b)(1). (Again, the exceptions are irrelevant to the present analysis).

The Georgia statute is at its essence identical to the Wisconsin statute. Both statutes preempt local regulation of firearms by ordinance or resolution. Under the Circuit Court's reasoning, one would conclude that a city in Georgia could, for example, sue a firearms manufacturer for negligence by making unreasonably dangerous products. After all, a lawsuit is neither an ordinance nor a resolution. That conclusion, however, would be erroneous.

In *Sturm Ruger v. City of Atlanta*, 253 Ga.App. 713 (2003), the City of Atlanta sued 17 gun manufacturers for negligence, in that they manufactured unreasonably dangerous products. After the manufacturers' motion to dismiss was denied, the manufacturers appealed. In reversing, the Court of Appeals of Georgia found that the state legislature had occupied the field in promulgating the above-cited Georgia statute. The Court said, "The City may not do indirectly that which it cannot do directly. As the State points out, power may be exercised as much by a jury's

⁶ Georgia also preempts regulation by zoning, but that additional feature is not germane to present case.

application of law in a civil suit as by statute." 253 Ga.App. at 718.

Likewise, Wisconsin's legislature has occupied the field by declaring that cities and counties cannot regulate carrying weapons. If the common council lacks the authority to enact the Ban, as it clearly does, then commissions created by the common council cannot have authority to do that which the common council cannot. The words of the statute evidence an intent of the legislature to "occupy the field" of regulation of carrying firearms, leaving municipalities with nothing but the ability to regulate carrying firearms in a manner no more strict than state law. *See, e.g., State ex rel. Kaminski v. Schwarz,* 2001 WI 94, 245 Wis.2d 310, 630 N.W.2d 164 (2001).

Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, the judgment of the circuit court dismissing the case should be reversed and the case remanded for further proceedings.

John R. Monroe Attorney for Petitioners

<u>Certificate of Service</u>
I certify that on February 8, 2016, I served a copy of the

foregoing via U.S. Mail upon:

John Strange **Assistant City Attorney** 210 Martin Luther King Jr. Blvd., Room 401 Madison, WI 53703