#### STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

### **RECEIVED**

03-04-2016

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

WISCONSIN CARRY, INC. and THOMAS WALTZ,

Petitioners-Appellants-Petitioners,

v.

Appeal No. 2015 AP 0146

CITY OF MADISON,

Respondent-Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_

On Appeal from Wisconsin Court of Appeals, District IV 2015 AP 0146 2014 CV 0061 Decision dated August 6, 2015

#### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

\_\_\_\_\_

Room 401, City-County Bldg. 210 Martin Luther King Jr. Blvd Madison WI 53703 Phone (608) 266-4511 Fax (608) 267-8715 Michael P. May City Attorney State Bar No 1011610

John Strange
Asst. City Attorney
State Bar No. 1068817
City of Madison
jstrange@cityofmadison.com

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

the state statute had a preemptive effect on such policies:

"[T]he term "ordinance" generally is employed to refer to something that a government entity "enacts." Both in its ordinary usage and in its more specific legal sense, the term "enact" refers to lawmaking...Consistently with that usage, ORS 166.170(2) provides that counties, cities, and municipal corporations or districts may not *enact* civil or criminal ordinances" that regulate, restrict, or prohibit firearms."

*Id.* at 793.

The court concluded from the language of the statute it was clear that, when used in Oregon's preemption statute, an ordinance is something "enacted" into law by governmental entities acting in their legislative capacities. *See id.* The Court also took guidance from the statute's legislative history, noting that the focus of the Oregon legislature in passing the state's preemption statute was to avoid "a patchwork quilt" of local government laws inconsistently regulating firearms:

"The legislative history, then, shows that the legislature was concerned with the relatively narrow problem of local governments enacting a patchwork of conflicting laws concerning firearms. We have found nothing in that legislative history suggesting that the legislature intended the scope of its declaration of preemption in ORS 166.170(1) to reach more broadly."

*Id.* at 798-799. Based on its consideration of the ordinance's language and legislative history, the court ruled that the

school district's employment Ban was simply not an "ordinance" that was prohibited by Oregon's firearm regulation preemption statute. *See id.* 799.

# 3. The Court of Appeals properly found that Wisconsin's Preemption Statute only applies to ordinances and resolutions, and, therefore, does not preempt the Ban.

As detailed above, the plain text of the Preemption Statute limits is application to ordinances and resolutions. As Petitioners concede, the Ban is not an ordinance or resolution. See Pet. Br. at 9. It is not a legislative enactment of the common council; it does not regulate citizens en masse who come within the municipal jurisdiction; and it does not regulate gun ownership. Instead, the Ban is a transit agency policy that applies only to individuals who choose to pay the fare and ride a bus owned and operated by Metro Transit – and it only applies while they ride the bus. There is simply no evidence in the text or legislative history of the Preemption Statute that the legislature intended to reach such Therefore, the decision of the Court of agency actions. Appeals – that the Preemption Statute does not apply to the Ban because it is not an ordinance or resolution – is correct because it simply honors the plain text of the Preemption Statute. *See Kalal*, 271 2004 WI App 58, ¶44 (stating that courts must assume the legislature's intent is expressed in the text of the statutory language).

## 4. The Court of Appeals decision does not defy logic because there is nothing illogical about the plain text of the Preemption Statute.

The Court of Appeals' decision does not "defy logic." *See* Pet. Br. at 9. To the contrary, the Court of Appeals' decision honors the plain text of the Preemption Statute.

As noted above, when writing a statute, the legislature is presumed to carefully and precisely choose statutory language to express a desired meaning. *See Industry to Industry, Inc.* 2002 WI 51, ¶ 19 n.5. Given the legislature history of the Preemption Statute, and Rep. Johnsrud's stated concern about local firearm ordinances affecting gun ownership, "it is not absurd or unreasonable to suppose that our legislature drew a distinction between a municipality's broad legislative powers and a municipal agency's more limited powers." *Wisconsin Carry*, 2015 WI App. 74, ¶ 15.

Indeed, if the legislature had intended to preempt local agency or commission actions like the ones complained of in this case, it would have done so, just like all the states listed

above did. The fact that it chose not to, and that Petitioners are frustrated by the result, does not defy logic.

## 5. Petitioners' end-run argument is wrong because there is a fundamental difference between a city sidewalk and a city bus.

Petitioners also argue that the Court of Appeals decision must be wrong because it would authorize various city agencies to do an end-run around the Preemption Statute and "ban guns in parks, restaurants, streets, sidewalks, and stores." Pet. Br. at 9-10. Outside of this broad statement, however, Petitioners provide no specific arguments explaining how this would be so. *See*, *e.g.*, *Olson v. Red Cedar Clinic*, 2004 WI App 102, ¶ 11, 273 Wis. 2d 728, 733, 681 N.W.2d 306 (stating that the court need not consider arguments broadly stated but not specifically argued).

Petitioners fail to allege what city agency or commission could create a rule banning guns on streets and sidewalks, the authority on which that agency or commission would rely, or how such an agency rule could be enforced city wide on, for example, a sidewalk. Likewise, Petitioners fail to allege what agency or commission would have the authority to require private property owners (operating a

restaurant or a store) to prohibit guns in their restaurant or store. It is not the responsibility of this Court to develop this argument for Petitioners. *See id*.

Petitioners' end-run argument is wrong because there are fundamental differences between a city bus and city sidewalk. Understanding this explains not only why Petitioners' end-run argument is wrong, but why the Attorney General's opinion that public entities can exclude loaded handguns from buses is correct.

The United States Supreme Court has long protected a government's ability to restrict use of its own property. Even in the face of fiercely protected constitutional rights like the First Amendment right to free speech, the Court is unwavering:

"[t]he State, no less than a private owner of property, has power to preserve the property under its control for the use to which it is lawfully dedicated...[t]he United States Constitution does not forbid [it.]"

Adderley v. State of Fla., 385 U.S. 29, 47, 87 S. Ct. 242, 247, 17 L. Ed. 2d 149 (1966) (emphasis added).

Fifteen years later, the Supreme Court rejected a free speech claim for the right to place unstamped literature in United States Postal Service mailboxes, holding the First

Amendment "does not guarantee access to property simply because it is owned or controlled by the government." *U.S. Postal Serv. v. Council of Greenburgh Civic Associations*, 453 U.S. 114, 129, 101 S. Ct. 2676, 2685, 69 L. Ed. 2d 517 (1981)

Importantly, the Supreme Court has also specifically addressed public buses, distinguishing them from other types of government property like city parks and sidewalks. Under its analysis, public buses are so distinct from traditional public forums that they are subjected to lesser First Amendment scrutiny:

"[h]ere we have no open spaces, no meeting hall, park, street corner, or other public thoroughfare. Instead, the city is engaged in commerce...[A] city transit system has the discretion to develop and make reasonable choices concerning the type of advertising that may be displayed in its vehicles."

Lehman v. City of Shaker Heights, 418 U.S. 298, 303, 94 S. Ct. 2714, 2717, 41 L. Ed. 2d 770 (1974). In that case, the court protected a city's policy to exclude political advertisements from its buses, respecting the "city's conscious decision to limit access [to buses] in order to minimize chances of abuse, the appearance of favoritism, and the risk of imposing upon a captive audience." *Id.* at 304.

Although no constitutional issues have been raised in this case, these cases illustrate the difference between a city bus, owned and operated by a municipal transit agency in a propriety capacity, and a city sidewalk, street, or park that is open to the public subject only to reasonable constitutional While a city agency can control what paying restraints. passengers bring onto a city bus, a city agency cannot control what citizens carry down a sidewalk or street in the city at large. Only the legislative body, empowered to enact legislation on the public at large, has the power to do that, subject to reasonable constitutional constraints. Accordingly, Petitioners' attempt to map an end-run by comparing an agency bus policy to a sidewalk policy fails from the start. More importantly, as argued more fully below, this line of cases supports the accuracy of the Attorney General's conclusion that a public vehicle owner may exclude loaded handguns from buses it owns just as a private individual may. (R. 10 at 58-59).

In the end, Petitioners "defy logic" and "end run" arguments cannot supplant the plain text of the Preemption Statute.

### C. The Ordinance is not a firearm regulation ordinance subject to preemption analysis.

In the alternative, Petitioners argue that the Ordinance is a firearm regulation ordinance subject to preemption analysis because it purports to authorize the Transit and Parking Commission to promulgate rules related to firearms. *See* Pet. Br. at 11.<sup>4</sup> This is a circular argument because, even as proposed by Petitioners, it ultimately leads back to whether the Preemption Statute reaches agency or commission actions, which, as shown above, it does not.

Petitioners' alternative argument is no clearer now than it was when made to the Court of Appeals. First, Petitioners again fail to explain how such a general ordinance could be considered a "firearm regulation" or "gun control ordinance" as originally proposed by Representative Johnsrud and adopted by the legislature. On its face, the Ordinance bears no resemblance to the firearm ordinances regulating the ownership of handguns, assault rifles, and sawed-off shotguns the legislature worried about in 1995. The word firearm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Here again, Petitioners gloss over whether the Ban, or an ordinance like it, would be more stringent than the Vehicle Statute. *See* Pet. Br. at 11 (stating "It is clear that...the Madison Common Council lacks the authority to pass an ordinance or resolution that regulates carrying weapons on busses."). Throughout this litigation Petitioners have failed to offer any argument regarding this issue. The City will address this issue below in the event the Court reaches.

appears nowhere in its text. It has nothing at all to do with firearms. Instead, it authorizes the Transit and Parking Commission to make rules regarding parking, transit, and paratransit.

To support their purported authority argument, Petitioners pose a puzzling hypothetical. According to Petitioners, if this Court decides that the Ordinance is not a firearm regulation under the Preemption Statute, then a City could easily escape preemption analysis by simply passing other general ordinances that do not explicitly ban weapons. *See* Pet. Br. at 12. For example, Petitioners propose, a city could enact "an ordinance that 'frightens the public." *Id.* According to the Petitioners, this hypothetical ordinance would "not mention weapons explicitly[, but would allow a city to prosecute] people seen openly wearing firearms in holsters on their waistbands if anyone in the public testified as having been frightened by seeing the firearm." *Id.* 

The puzzling thing about Petitioners' hypothetical is that it is not a hypothetical. The City of Madison, like most every city across this state, already has a Disorderly Conduct ordinance that generally prohibits frightening or disturbing people. *See* Madison, Wis., Gen. Ordinances, §

24.02(1)(2015). In 2009, the Attorney General wrote to law enforcement agencies and explained the Department's opinion that "mere open carry of a firearm, absent additional facts and circumstances, should not result in a disorderly conduct charge." See Open carrying of firearms legal, Van Hollen says, Milwaukee Journal Sentinel, April 20, 2009, at 1 (http://www.jsoline.com/news/wisconsin/43302252.html). The legislature codified this opinion as part of Act 35 in Wis. Stat. § 947.01(2) (2013). The significance of this as it relates to this case is that neither the Attorney General's opinion nor the resulting codification has anything to do with preemption. The analysis depends on the factual circumstances of each case, not on whether a general disorderly conduct ordinance is subject to the Preemption Statute. See id.

The point petitioners continue to miss is that the Preemption Statute only applies to firearm regulation ordinances and resolutions, not to local agency or commission actions. Petitioners certainly would not contend that the Ordinance would be preempted if the Ban did not exist. To underscore this point, the Court need look no further than Petitioners' original Complaint, which does not mention the Ordinance at all. Accordingly, the Ordinance is not a firearm

regulation ordinance subject to preemption analysis.

The Circuit Court correctly rejected Petitioners' strenuous attempt to turn the Ordinance into a firearm regulation ordinance. (R. 14 at 7-8). The Court of Appeals failed to discern a developed argument regarding the same or how such a general ordinance could possibly be subject to preemption analysis. *See Wisconsin Carry*, 2015 WI App 73, ¶5, n.3. Petitioners' argument to the Supreme Court remains undeveloped. If anything, it has become even more vague and confusing. The Supreme Court should reject it.

## D. Even if the Preemption Statute does apply to the Ban, the Ban is not preempted because it is not more stringent than the Vehicle Statute.

Throughout this litigation and again in its brief to the Supreme Court, Petitioners make various statements that it is "clear" the City could not establish the Ban after Act 35. *See* Pet. Br. at 9, 11; *see also* Pet. Br. to the Court of Appeals at 10. However, Petitioners have provided no authority or argument showing how the Ban, or an ordinance just like it, is more stringent than the amended Vehicle Statute.

Meanwhile, the Attorney General has stated just the opposite of Petitioners' conclusion: that after Act 35 "public

and private entities may prohibit or restrict the possession and transportation of weapons." (R. 10 at 58-59).

Given that Petitioners continue to make this legal conclusion without support, the City will address it in the event the Court takes up the issue of whether the Ban is more stringent than the amended Vehicle Statute.

# 1. Under the Preemption Statute, political subdivisions may enact ordinances or resolutions that are not more stringent than state law.

The Preemption Statute specifically allows political subdivisions to enact ordinances or resolutions that are not more stringent than state law. *See* Wis. Stat. § 66.0409(2)(2013). Petitioners have consistently ignored the "more stringent than" portion of the Preemption Statute.

To determine if one law is more stringent than another, courts must decide if the two laws conflict. "[M]unicipalities may enact ordinances in the same field and on the same subject covered by state legislation where such ordinances do not conflict with...the state legislation." *Milwaukee v. Childs Co.*, 195 Wis. 148, 217 N.W. 703 (1928). To determine whether a local ordinance conflicts with state law, courts must first interpret the laws alleged to contradict each other.

Statutory interpretation "begins with the language of the statute." Kalal, 2004 WI 58, ¶45, ¶47. Beyond the language of the statute, "scope, history, context, and purpose" of the statute help discern the legislature's intent when passing the law." Id. at ¶48. Using these tools of interpretation, courts "should not construe laws to reach absurd results." "Unless legislative provisions are contradictory in the sense that they cannot coexist, they are not to be deemed inconsistent." Fox v. Racine, 225 Wis. 542, 546-547, 275 N.W. 513 (1935). See also DeRosso Landfill Co. v. City of Oak Creek, 200 Wis. 2d 642, 651, 547 N.W.2d 770 (1996); Anchor Sav. & Loan Assoc. v. Equal Opportunities Com., 120 Wis. 2d 391, 397, 355 N.W.2d 234 (1984) (stating that the principle announced in Fox is still the rule when addressing the whether state legislation preempts a municipal ordinance). In this case, to determine if the Ban is more stringent than the Vehicle Statute, the court must compare the two.

### 2. The purpose of the Ban is to exclude weapons from city-owned buses.

The parties do not dispute that the purpose of the Ban is to exclude weapons from city buses. The Ban does not prohibit weapons in any other vehicle or in any other place. It

only applies to people who choose to pay the fare and ride the bus, and it only applies while they are riding the bus.

Nor do the parties dispute that the purpose of the Vehicle Statute is to allow individuals to carry loaded handguns in a vehicle. However, in amending the Vehicle Statute, the legislature changed very little of the law's language. Today's law remains prohibitory, but with an exception allowing individuals to carry a loaded handgun in "a" vehicle. The language of the statute is clear: a person "may" transport a loaded handgun in "a" vehicle.

The law does not say a person may transport a handgun in "any" vehicle. It does not say that a person may transport a handgun in "all" vehicles. Perhaps most importantly, the new law does not does not say that a person *must* be allowed to transport a handgun in a taxi cab, city bus, or any other form of public transportation.

In other words, the new law does not force loaded handguns into all vehicles. Vehicle owners may still exclude handguns if they wish. Madison Metro has done so by maintaining its longstanding policy prohibiting weapons on buses.

3. Petitioners concede that the Vehicle Statute does not remove the ability of a vehicle owner to exclude weapons from vehicles that they own.

As noted above, nothing in the new law removes the ability of vehicle owners to exclude loaded handguns from vehicles that they own. Petitioners do not contest this basic point, even as it relates to cars, buses, taxis, delivery trucks, and school buses used for public transportation. (R. 16 at 9-10). Yet, despite the Attorney General's instruction otherwise, Petitioners appear to contend that under Act 35 public entities that own vehicles should be treated differently than private individuals.

4. Petitioners fail to explain how Act 35 treats public vehicle owners any differently than private vehicle owners in this regard.

Given Petitioners' concession that the amended Vehicle Statute does not remove the ability of a private vehicle owner to exclude weapons, the key question is whether the new law treats public vehicle owners any differently than private vehicle owners?

In its Brief to the Circuit Court, Petitioners answered this question by stating that the "government does not have rights." (R. 9 at 4). When pressed at oral argument,

Petitioners' responded that the difference is that a bus is owned by a political subdivision. (R. 16 at p. 25, line 10-14).

However, as detailed above, Petitioners' general statements conflict with the opinions of the United States Supreme Court, which has long recognized the right of governments to control property that it owns, including public buses. *See Lehman*, 418 U.S. at 303. As the *Adderly* court explained:

"[t]he State, no less than a private owner of property, has power to preserve the property under its control for the use to which it is lawfully dedicated...[t]he United States Constitution does not forbid [it.]"

Adderley, 385 U.S. at 47 (emphasis added).

In fact, governments own and operate all kinds of property, including buildings, garages, snowplows, ambulances, buses, fire trucks, and park shelters. And governments can control this property for reasons explained by the Unites States Supreme Court. Thus, it is insufficient for Petitioners to simply say that governments have no rights or that the city is a political subdivision.

To be successful, Petitioners must show how Act 35 removes from the City the power to control the property it owns (in this case, buses). To do that, they must show how

Act 35 treats public vehicle owners differently than private vehicle owners.

5. The Ban is not more stringent than the Vehicle Statute because, just like private vehicle owners, public vehicle owners may exclude weapons from vehicles that they own.

Nothing in the amended Vehicle Statute or any part of Act 35 signals that the legislature intended to treat political subdivisions that own vehicles any differently than private individuals who own vehicles.

First, Act 35 does not affirmatively say that guns must be allowed on public buses. In fact, Act 35 does not mention buses at all.

Second, Act 35 actually signals an intention to respect the property rights of private individuals and governments that own and operate vehicles. For example, Wis. Stat. § 175.60(15m)(b)(2013) allows an employee (public or private) to carry a gun in a vehicle during the course of their employment, but only in their "own motor vehicle." This means that, as an employer, governments can exclude weapons from vehicles it owns.

Finally, reading Act 35 under Petitioners' analysis (that private, but not public, vehicle owners can exclude

weapons) leads to absurd results, including:

- Act 35 would allow Madison Metro to prohibit its employees (ie, bus drivers) from carrying loaded handguns on buses, but not its passengers;
- Given that it is legal under Act 35 to ban guns at bus shelters, (R. 14 at 8-11), Act 35 would allow Metro Transit to ban loaded handguns at bus shelters, where passengers wait for buses, but not on the buses;
- Petitioners' analysis would require that Madison Metro let gun carrying passengers ride its buses that travel within 1000 feet of a school, where guns are banned. See Wis. Stat. § 948.605(2)(a) (2013) (prohibiting guns within 1000 feet of a school); and
- Under Petitioners' analysis, Madison Fire Department ambulances (also "vehicles") could not prohibit weapons even though the hospitals they drive to can.

These absurd results are avoided with the more reasonable interpretation that, like private vehicle owners, public vehicle owners can also exclude weapons from vehicles they own.

Petitioners have not attempted and cannot show that the Ban is therefore more stringent than the Vehicle Statute. Indeed, both laws can coexist. Accordingly, the Attorney General's opinion that after Act 35 public entities may restrict or prohibit the transportation of weapons makes sense and is correct. (R. 10 at 58-59).

### E. The Supreme Court should strike Petitioners' field preemption argument because they did not raise this issue in their Petition for Review.

In its January 11, 2016 Order granting Petition for Review in this case this Court ordered that Petitioners' "may not raise or argue issues not set forth in the petition for review unless otherwise ordered by the court." *See* Order Granting Petition for Review, p. 1 (citing Wis. Stat. § 809.62(6) (2015)); *see also United Concrete & Const., Inc. v. Red-D-Mix Concrete, Inc.*, 2013 WI 72, ¶ 17, 349 Wis. 2d 587, 836 N.W.2d 807 (declining to address an issue not raised in the petition for review). The Court did not order that any further issues be briefed.

Despite this specific order from the Court, Petitioners' brief raises a third issue, field preemption, that was neither raised nor argued in the Petition for Review. *Compare* Pet. Br. at 4, 12 *and* Pet. for Review, p. 3-8. Indeed, the Petition for Review only raises and argues Petitioners' end-run and purported authority issues. *See* Pet. for Review, p. 3-8.

Since Petitioners have now raised this issue in direct contradiction to the Order of this Court, the City requests that

the Court strike and ignore this argument.<sup>5</sup>

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